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1. Introduction 

This document provides the feedback and outcomes from Phase 2 and Phase 3 of the Engagement Activities, 
related to the draft Request for Proposals (RFP) and Industry Engagement week for the Department of 
National Defence – 4th Canadian Division Training Centre Meaford Site Support Services.  

The objective of the draft RFP and Industry Engagement week, Phase 2 and 3, was to solicit relevant 
feedback on the draft RFP, to have an open dialogue with Industry to address concerns and answer 
questions that could enable effective and economical sustainment of the delivery of the required site 
support services at 4 CDTC Meaford. The RFP was posted on buyandsell.gc.ca and Public Services and 
Procurement Canada (PSPC) requested Industry feedback to assist with the reformulation of the site support 
services requirement for the 4th Canadian Division Training Centre (4 CDTC) located in Meaford, Ontario, 
on behalf of the Department of National Defence (DND).  

2. Requirement 

In order to support DND as it carries out its operations at 4 CDTC Meaford, site support services are obtained 
through contract with the private sector allowing DND to concentrate on its core business.  

In general, the services sought from the Contractor are real property site support services including, but not 
limited to: 
 

• facilities and operations maintenance, 
• roads, and grounds maintenance, 
• water supply and distribution,  
• power supply and generation,  
• waste management,  
• food services,  
• accommodation and janitorial services,  
• telecommunication and information system support,  
• vehicle and equipment maintenance,  
• transport,  
• fire services and  
• environmental protection services. 

 
3. Industry Engagement Process 
 

Phase 1  • Posting of RFI: August 18, 2018. 
• Responses to RFI requested: November 1, 2018. 

Participants • 6 organizations provided written responses to the RFI. 
Phase 2 • Posting of draft RFP: December 20, 2018 
Phase 3 • Industry Engagement Presentation and one-on-ones 

• Please refer to Annex B, List of Participating Organizations. 
• Industry Day: January 21, 2019 
• One-on-ones: January 22-25, 2019 

Participants Phase 3 • 11 companies attended the Industry Engagement Presentation 
• 8 companies submitted responses to the draft RFP 
• 7 companies attended one-on-one sessions with Canada 

Phase 4 • Posting of Summary of Feedback: April 2019 
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4. General Overview of the Industry Engagement Process Feedback 
 
The consultative process provided participating Industry with an opportunity to contribute to the procurement 
process by providing comments, questions and recommendations for improvement of the RFP as well as seeking 
clarification on technical issues. 
 
Overall, Industry indicated that the draft RFP was clear and not restrictive and there was consistency in the 
comments received. There were some clarifications requested and some suggestions for improvement.  
 
This document details the feedback received during Phase 2 and 3 of the Industry Engagement activities and the 
outcomes from Canada.  In Article 5 (below), Canada has provided thematic responses to the feedback received 
from Industry to the best extent possible. Questions received that were not responded to thematically are 
provided in Annex A, Questions and Answers.   
 
5.  Summary of Feedback and Outcomes on the Meaford Site Support Services draft RFP 
 
The following represents questions posed during Phase 2 and Phase 3 and the resulting responses provided 
in written format and in one-on-one meetings. Administrative questions are not included. 
 

1. Are the requirements in the Statement of Work clear? 
 
 
Respondents 
 

Generally respondents felt that the requirements in the Statement of Work were clear. 
The following general requests were made from Industry: 

• Access to historical data from each chapter of the SOW; 
• More information regarding the $7,500 job limit; 
• Clarification on the food services requirement; and, 
• A list of Government Furnished Equipment (GFE) separated by chapter. 

Specific questions are listed in Annex A 
Outcome As requested by Industry, Canada:  

• Will be posting 2 years of historical data for each chapter of the SOW, food 
and accommodation services will be separated by month; 

• An updated GFE list will be provided separated by chapter; 
• The food services requirement will be further clarified in the resulting RFP; 

and 
• A more fulsome description of the $7,500 job limit is: 

Definition: Job Limit relates to Corrective Maintenance (CM) work orders as 
listed in performance requirements in section 3, paragraph 2 C. The Job limit 
is $7,500 (excluding taxes) calculated as the number of labour hours times 
the hourly wage rate and employer paid benefits plus the cost of materials. 
If a job will exceed the job limit value, it will be negotiated in accordance 
with the Indefinite Quantity Requirements; however, the Contractor will 
only invoice for the difference between the Indefinite Quantity negotiated 
amount and $7,500. For the purposes of reporting for Variations in Quantity, 
each job that exceeds the job limit and is negotiated as an Indefinite 
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Quantity Requirement will count against the Estimated Quantity of the 
related Performance Requirement in para 2 C as one job. 
 
Explanation: This criteria appears in many sections across the new SOW. It 
basically applies to all CM (repair) activities across the SOW. There are more 
opportunities for IQ Job Limit (CM) work that number of Job Limits specified 
per section (i.e. max of 11 IQ Jobs / year @ $7,500.00 per Job Limit) This 
permits max flexibility by contractor and DND to decide where they conduct 
their CM (repair) work each year verses a set number. It also permits work 
above the 11 IQ Job Limit to be conducted via DND 626 – TA, as Indefinite 
Quantity work to be eligible for application of the $7,500.00 Job Limit. The 
contractor will never be required to provide beyond the 11 IQ Jobs / year.   

2. Is it clear how Canada proposes to evaluate the proposals? Provide any suggestions that, in your 
opinion, could improve the evaluation criteria. 

Respondents Overall respondents felt that the evaluation criteria was clear, some general concerns 
brought up from Industry are as follows: 

1. According to the RFI Canada indicated that emphasis will be put on innovation, 
however there is no criteria evaluating innovation, will this be updated? 

2. Will Canada be considering an Aboriginal benefits requirement, or a social 
procurement requirement? 

3. As Canada is evaluating resources will Industry have access to the current 
resources under the Contract? 

4. Canada is currently evaluating 15 chapters, the first chapter is the 
Requirement overview. Can Canada confirm what will be evaluated in the 
overview? 

Outcome 1. 1. Canada will not be evaluating innovation; however the SOW will include the 
following exert for gain sharing: 

GAIN SHARE PROGRAM 
a. The Contractor is encouraged to participate in a program of continual service 

and building asset improvement throughout the contract term.  
b. The Contractor will have opportunities to share in savings resulting from any 

innovative ideas that the Contractor may propose for DND approval. The 
Contractor will be required to conclusively demonstrate financial savings over 
an extended period. Savings may be shared between the parties where the 
total saving is shown to be above $5,000 annually.  

c. Prior to implementing any innovative idea, the Contractor must present a 
shared savings proposal to the DND Representative for review. The proposal 
must include:  

1. A detailed description of the proposal 
2. An outline implementation plan 
3. A Capital investment proposal (If applicable) 
4. O&M savings generated over short and long term 
5. A payback period calculation 
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d. A proposal will only be implemented by the Contractor once the DND 
Representative has approved the proposal in writing. 

e. The payback period cannot extend beyond the term of the original contract 
(extensions to the contract term are excluded). 

f. Where the Contractor’s innovation involves a financial investment then the 
proportion of shared savings will be based on the amount of the financial 
investment by the respective parties. For example: If the Contractor invests 
50 percent of the cost to implement a project, then the shared savings with 
Canada will be 50/50. The Contractor’s maximum financial investment, and 
thus share of potential savings, is limited to a maximum of 50 percent. 

g. Where the contractor’s innovation involves no financial investment but results 
in savings above $5,000 annually to Canada then the Contractor can negotiate 
the portion of actual savings to be paid to the Contractor. In any event the 
proportion of savings paid to the contractor will not exceed 50% of the savings 
achieved during the remainder of the Contract term.  

h. Canada will pay the Contractor’s gain share if actual savings in excess of $5,000 
annually are achieved and supporting evidence of the saving is provided to the 
DND Representative’s satisfaction. The Contractor’s gain share entitlement 
will be the previously agreed to share of the actual savings made during the 
year with no entitlement to savings payment beyond the Contract completion 
date. 

2. 2. Canada will not be adding a Statement of Requirements for an Indigenous Benefits 
requirement. Canada will instead be evaluating social procurement through the 
evaluation of Gender Based Analysis Plus please see evaluation criteria 2.5 and the 
definition by the Treasury Board Secretariat of Canada: https://www.tbs-
sct.gc.ca/hgw-cgf/oversight-surveillance/tbs-pct/gba-oacs-eng.asp. It is encouraged 
to also refer to the Status of Women Canada website: http://www.swc-
cfc.gc.ca/gba-acs/index-en.html.  

3.  
4. 3. Canada will be responding to this question at a later date. 

 
5. 4. Canada will be removing Chapter 1 from the evaluation criteria. 

3. Does the Basis of Selection seem fair and reasonable? 

Respondents  The majority of respondents felt that the basis of selection was fair and reasonable. 
Some clarification regarding the basis of selection was requested: 

1. Does the proposed selection have a means to determine whether the lowest 
price is capable of delivery i.e. relates to the Technical offer, and if so how is 
this dealt with? In the absence of such a criteria we would suggest that the 
mechanism include a specific assessment asking “Is the proposed level of 
service deliverable at the submitted price?  

2. Will Canada consider revising the basis of evaluation to a 60/40 ratio, Technical 
Proposal/Financial Proposal respectively, vice the 70/30 ratio mentioned in the 
Draft RFP? 

3. Will the Technical Proposal, Cost Proposal and Certifications all be submitted as 

https://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/hgw-cgf/oversight-surveillance/tbs-pct/gba-oacs-eng.asp
https://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/hgw-cgf/oversight-surveillance/tbs-pct/gba-oacs-eng.asp
http://www.swc-cfc.gc.ca/gba-acs/index-en.html
http://www.swc-cfc.gc.ca/gba-acs/index-en.html
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the same time or is this a two-stage bid process, where proponents must first 
qualify through a Technical Proposal, after which they will be invited to submit a 
Cost Proposal? 

Outcome  1. The technical authorities do not have access to the financial bids; they are only 
evaluated by PSPC. The winning proposal is 70% technical and 30% financial. 
Overall the technical score will outweigh the financial score. 

2. Canada is not considering revising the 70/30 split at this time. Canada proposes 
that this method will receive the best value procurement from Industry.  

3. This is a one stage process; all information is required at bid submission. 

4. Is the current draft RFP unduly restrictive (e.g. security, insurance, evaluation criteria, SOW)? Please 
explain why and suggest alternatives. 

Respondents All respondents found that the draft RFP was not unduly restrictive. Some 
clarifications were requested.  

Outcome Canada has updated the RFP based on comments and concerns, Annex A lists all 
questions posed during the Engagement activities 

5.0 Performance Management Framework 
1. Are the key performance indicators (KPIs) in the Performance management framework (PMF) clear? 
2. Is it clear how Canada proposes to evaluate the Contractor’s performance? Provide any suggestions 

that, in your opinion, could improve the evaluation. 
3. Is the process to amend the Performance incentive Fee clear? Provide any suggestions that, in your 

opinion, could improve the process. 
4. Canada is proposing six key performance indicators. Does industry have comments or concerns on the 

current KPIS? Please explain why and suggest alternatives. 
5. Are any other aspects of the PMF that are unclear? 
 
Respondents Industry provided comments and concerns are found in Annex A 
Outcome Canada will be updating the document as required 
 

6.0 Are any other aspects of the draft RFP unclear? 
Respondents Additional questions and comments on the draft RFP are found in Annex A 
Outcome Canada will update the draft RFP as required. 
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6. Conclusion  
 
Phase 2 and 3 of the Industry engagement process was a valuable contribution to Canada in informing of 
potential areas of concern, and clarifying and improving information provided for a future RFP. The 
procurement process will be improved by implementing some changes in the RFP that will address the key 
concerns.  
 
PSPC and DND would like to thank all stakeholders who participated at Engagement Day, the one-on-one 
meetings and providing written responses. The information that resulted is invaluable in assisting Canada 
to develop a future RFP. 
 
*Please note that this engagement process is not a pre-qualification to submitting a bid for the upcoming 
RFP. 
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Annex A- Questions and Answers Industry-Phase 2 and 3 of Industry Engagement 

1.0 GENERAL QUESTIONS 

1. Does the financial bid have to be broken down? If so how much? 
a. No, as this is a competitive process we only require the prices on the financial evaluation 

sheet. No breakdown is required; however Canada may request at a later date a full 
breakdown of the costs. 

2. Does taking this Contract preclude us from taking on other work related to this requirement?  
a. It would depend on the requirement and what work the Contractor has completed for 

the requirement in question. For instance if the Contractor developed a design for a 
project that was going to be solicited competitively the Contractor would not be able to 
bid. It would be determined on a case by case basis. 

3. What does success look like for this requirement?  
a. Success is the provision of appropriate support of the military personnel (ie:  The Soldiers 

Come First mentality) 
4. Are there any specific subcontractors that Canada prefers?  

a. Canada cannot answer that question. It is up to Industry to determine the best sub-
contractors, and if they are required.  

5. Are there existing unions on the base under the incumbent? 
a. Canada is not involved with any unions under the incumbent. 

6. How often are there NATO exercises?  
a. NATO exercises are not very frequent, roughly once every 5 years. It would be a major 

event and where the contractor would be provided sufficient lead time.  That said, the 
contractor would be expected to be flexible. The cost is not included in the firm price.  

7. Who are the largest groups that come for training? 
a. The largest are the brigades from Petawawa, but for the most part this has very little 

impact on the Contractor as they are not involved with this group. 
b. Most large activities are planned and discussed with the Contractor in advance. 

8. Can DND provide a history of incidents wherein the contractor was held responsible for some 
negligent action? 

a. No.This is the responsibility/information of the incumbent. 
9. Does Canada use live actors in the training?  

a. Canada may use live actors, however it is done internally and can be managed with 
Canada’s resources. 

10. Which group runs the daycare? 
a. The daycare is run by the Military Family Resource Centre (MFRC) 

11. Are there currently any Capital projects planned?  
a. The master realty plan is in flux right now. No projects are currently approved for the 

next 3-5 years.   
12. Are the regulatory inspections required by the Contractor? 

a. Yes. 
13. Range and training management plan. Is there anything in the plan that can help the Contractor? 

a. Canada will not be providing this plan as it is not required for the Proposal. The only 
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threats are areas that are outside access for routine operations/activities of the 
contractor. The contractor will not be asked to enter marked areas (unexploded 
ordinance polluted areas) to provide their services. Also, range maintenance (on non-
polluted areas) is typically coordinated and scheduled in collaboration with range control 
throughout the year. 

14. The contractor might be required to do exercises (i.e. NATO), what does this involve? 
a. This would involve setting up power generation, tents, trailers, and other operational 

duties.  The camps would be on the main ground.  
b. The Contractor can expect to utilize DNDs equipment to set up necessary facilities.  In 

some exceptional cases, the Contractor (through a Task Authorization) may be required 
to source some of those products. 

15. There are 2 technical authorities. How is it expected that the Contractor communicates with 
them? 

a. Canada will provide more detail regarding the communication plan. 
16. Will Canada be using TF! As a bid submission tool? 

a. Canada is not currently considering TF! as an option. 
17. If there are issues, complaints, or gaps that need to be conveyed to the Contractor. Who would 

approach the Contractor? 
a. The Technical Authority would inform the contractor of any potential issues. 
b. There will be daily interactions with the Contractor and the Technical DND team. 

18. Is there any work scheduled for roads and grounds? 
a. Nothing is scheduled at the present time. 

19. Are there any work orders for street lighting? 
a. There are only an estimated 6 work orders per year for street lighting. The lights have 

been upgraded to LED which is a more robust system. 
20. Given the long term nature of the contemplated contract has Canada assessed / considered 

the option for transferring a portion of the lifecycle risk to the outsourced service provider 
/ Contractor? 

a. Canada has not considered transferring a portion of the lifecycle risk to the 
outsourced service provider. At this time Canada has no intention to do so. 

21. As the RFP requires Bidders to identify the Key Individuals will the bidders be able to engage 
with the existing workforce (or those performing roles required as Key Individuals) during 
the bid process? 

a. Canada cannot make the resources available for engagement;  
b. Canada requests that industry not initiate communication with resources while 

they are on base. 
22. Given the long term nature of the contract and the proposed indexation being the 

Consumer Price Index (CPI) Ontario would Canada consider allowing a supplementary 
labor adjustment to the extent minimum wage increases beyond CPI? 

a. No, Canada will not be allowing any supplementary labor adjustment. Canada 
will not get involved in legislation of minimum wages. The contractor must take 
into account such possible escalations.  

23. Insurance: Is it an absolute requirement for Canada to be a named on the Contractor 
Insurance Program as this is sometimes difficult to implement? 



 11 

a. It is an absolute requirement for Canada to be named on the Insurance 
Program. 

24. Appendix B 6 .0 Calculation of Adjustment. An annual adjustment on the quantities may result in 
the Contractor carrying significant cash flow and therefore we would like to see opportunities for 
a monthly or quarterly reconciliation on such items. We would suggest that the mechanism 
leaving the first 10% variation on volumes with the Contractor is not necessarily adding value to 
Canada. For the downward adjustment there is a concern that reducing labor is not always 
workable as the post may be a Full Time Equivalent, for example. We would suggest that any 
downward adjustment is limited to variable and recoverable amounts 

a. Canada will not be adjusting timeline for adjustment based off of experience, there is 
little value in adjusting the quantities more frequently than on an annual basis. Looking 
at past years there was little variance based on the estimated quantities.  

b. Canada understands that the downward adjustment is not always possible and will only 
recover realized savings from the Contractor.   

25. The estimated quantities in the requirement.  Are these estimated quantities historic or forward 
looking?  

a. The estimated quantities are forward looking quantities, based on the historical values. 
The base output may change but likely will remain similar. As far as DND knows, there 
are no programs that will make an anticipated change to the volumes. Once every 5 
years, the base performs a large scale training event but this work is done under a task 
authorization.  

26. To ensure that the extension period can maintain the same principals of partnership and allow 
for investment/security of employment for the personnel we would propose that greater benefit 
would be secured if extensions are a) by mutual agreement and b) 3 x 3 year extensions. 

a. Canada will maintain the 10 * 1 year option periods and will reserve the right to exercise 
options, but is willing to discuss exercising an option with the Contractor if the Contractor 
has concerns. Canada may exercise more than 1 option year at a time. 

27. Clause 7.8.2 Limitation of Liability: Can Canada confirm that the clause refers to the maximum 
payments payable to the Contractor rather than a maximum Limit on Liability? 

a. Canada confirms that this clause is the maximum amount payable to the Contractor 
under the Contract. 

28. Clause 7.22 Consequences of Failure to Perform Services 
a. Canada can hold money back if work isn’t completed according to the SOW. If there is a 

portion of work that needs to be completed by a different contractor that cost will be 
borne by the Contractor.  

29. The RFP states that sub-contractors will be reimbursed at cost. Can Canada confirm that this 
would be subject to the application of an agreed Contractor margin? 

a. Canada is in the process of reviewing this section and will update the RFP if required. 
30. It is common in contracts where a single proponent is responsible for the delivery of a wide range 

of services that the contractor is incentivized to perform energy savings. 
a. There may be an opportunity for the contractor to perform energy savings. The Gain 

Share program is being considered to address this possibility.   
31. In longer term contracts where the Contractor is responsible for delivering a wide range of 

services it is common for the contract to contain an ”innovation” or similar clause. Will Canada 
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consider adding one? 
a. Canada will be adding a Gain Share program to the SOW. 

32. How does engagement in the community work? Is there something that is currently done? 
a. The base supports the community through involvement with veterans, open houses, 

family days, and providing other services.  The Contractor will be liaising with to the local 
fire department.  The Contractor will also be required to engage local business and 
services. 

33. What are the biggest problems currently?  
a. Food Services has a new menu that was recently rolled out at other bases that is not 

currently being used and needs to be implemented.  
34. Social Procurement could be a benefit to Canada. Is Canada interested in providing an evaluation 

criteria in this area?  
a. Canada is currently exploring social procurement options. As of right now we are 

evaluating Gender Based Analysis Plus as a social procurement initiative. 
35. Can the key resources be used for different tasks? Are there any positions that can or can’t be 

used for other tasks? 
a. Canada has determined that the Contract Site Manager and the Quality 

Assurance/Quality control Manager cannot be used for other tasks. 
36. The resource qualification list appears to be missing some requirements, specifically qualifications 

for the ARFF requirements. Will Canada be updating the list?  
a. The qualifications in the resource list are being reviewed by Canada and will be updated 

if required. 
37. Please clarify the reference to ARFF services. 

a. Links to NFPA Codes and Standards; https://www.nfpa.org/Codes-and-Standards/All-
Codes-and-Standards/List-of-Codes-and-Standards 

b. Minimum personnel qualifications are as follows: NFPA 1003 Standard for Airport Fire 
Fighter Professional Qualifications - This standard identifies the minimum job 
performance requirements (JPRs) for airport fire fighters. 

38. Is ISO Certification required? 
a. Yes, Canada wants ISO certification. The term “In accordance with ISO” will be changed 

to “ISO certified” 
39. Would Canada consider changing the option periods from 1 year periods to 2 year periods? 

a. At this moment Canada is going to maintain the 1 year option periods; however the 
clause will be written to give flexibility to award 2 or more option years at a time. 

40. Is the additional site visit a requirement? Will the visit be during working hours? Can resources on 
the base be approached? 

a. The site tour planned in April is not a mandatory requirement, it was requested from 
Industry and Canada accepted the suggestion and is willing to accommodate the request. 

b. The visit is being planned during working hours to ensure that as many buildings as 
possible are accessible. 

c. No, current Contractor resources and resources of the Government of Canada cannot be 
approached. If Industry is seen initiating communication with the current Contractor’s 
employees or Government of Canada resources they will be asked to leave. All 
communication must be made only to the Contracting Authority, no questions will be 

https://www.nfpa.org/Codes-and-Standards/All-Codes-and-Standards/List-of-Codes-and-Standards
https://www.nfpa.org/Codes-and-Standards/All-Codes-and-Standards/List-of-Codes-and-Standards


 13 

answered during this visit. 
41. 7.9.2 Applicable Taxes (Pg 35). Applicable Taxes Section  Holdback is mentioned here but 

nowhere else within the Contract. Is there a holdback to be applied to this contract and if so, how 
will it be handled/reconciled/etc? 

a. There is no holdback associated with invoicing for this requirement. The clause will be 
updated. 

b. In 7.22 Consequences of Failure to Perform Services. Canada can hold money back if work 
isn’t completed according to the SOW. If there is a portion of work that needs to be 
completed by a different contractor that cost will be borne by the Contractor.  

42. QC/QA Management and Quality –Mentions documenting within the “Quality Control Software”. 
What “Quality Control Software” will be provided for use? 

a. DND is in the process of sourcing software to be utilized for this function. DND will 
provide the name of the software after the procurement is completed. 

43. Chapter 2 – 2.i.10 (Pg 66). List of Technical Inspectors – Provide a list of technical inspectors. What 
is a “technical inspector” as this is the only place it is mentioned. 

a. A Technical Inspector (TI) is an individual that possesses the required qualifications, 
certifications and/or experience in any particular field (eg vehicle mechanic) whose job it 
is to certify or inspect equipment or facilities to ensure proper function and operation 
and overall serviceability. 

44. Chapter 2 – 2.i.10 (Pg 66) What training is required for the Technical Inspector? – Refer to 
Question 43.  

a. Resource requirements for all key positions, including TI’s can be found in annex G.  
45. Part 7.1.1 (Pg 26) Site Support Services including: lists 12 areas. The listing is missing 

Management & Administration as well Transition In/Out. 
a. The listing, as stated, is including but not limited to and it is understood that both 

Management & Administration and Phase-in Phase-out will be conducted in accordance 
with the SOW. The listing is only outlining the “core” functions of 4 CDTC. 

46. Housekeeping. There are no performance standards provided. No building listing, square footage, 
etc provided 

a. a. A Building Condition Assessment (BCA) report will be provided to all bidders. We 
are working to include all capital equipment and systems associated with each building 
or asset. Weblink to the CIMS (housekeeping standard) – 
https://www.issa.com/certification-standards/cleaning-industry-management-
standard-cims.html 

47. What kind of support can the Contractor expect for Environment management? 
a. The Contractor will receive sufficient office space;  all aspects of the Environment 

management will fall under the Contractor’s responsibility. 
48. What kind of hazardous waste can be expected? 

a. Oil spills, contaminated soils, fluorescent lights ballasts can be expected at a Level 2 and 
below. Refueling is jerry can based with the occasional large vehicle on site. Gas and 
diesel are the primary contaminants, all vehicles are generally fueled at the pumping 
station while very few are filled in the field training area. 

49. What are the expectations of the Contractor to act as and/or provide services of the following 
DND officers (see SOW Chapter 2, page 56): Base Technical Services Officer (BTSO), Base Supply 



 14 

Officer (BSupO), Base Maintenance Officer (BMaintO), Base Transportation Officer (BTNO), Base 
Foods Officer (B Foods O); 

a. The verbiage has been updated: 
Key Qualifications-
Current SOW 

Revised titles  Section 
Managers-
Current SOW 

Revised titles 

Contractor Program 
Manager 

Contractor Program 
Manager 

BTSO Housekeeping & Accommodations  
Manager 

Contractor Site 
Manager 

Contractor Site Manager BSupO Supply Operations Manager  

Health and Safety 
Officer 

Health and Safety 
Manager 

BMaintO Vehicle & Equipment Maintenance 
Manager  

Quality 
Assurance/Control 
Manager 

Quality 
Assurance/Control 
Manager 

BTNO Transport Manager 

Contractor 
Environmental Officer 

Contractor 
Environmental Manager 

B Food O Food Services Manager 

  BESO Ammunitiond & Explosives Safety 
Manager  

  BRadS O Radiation Safety Manager 
   Telecommunications Information 

Systems Manager 
   Real Property Advisor 
   Roads and Grounds Manager 

 
50. What is the definition of Indefinite Quantity (IQ) requirement (see SOW page 57), in particular as 

it contributes to the IQ of the contract. 
a. Indefinite Quantity (IQ) requirements:  

i. Are those services or tasks that cannot be included in the fixed firm price of the 
Contract since the exact scope of the tasks cannot be defined, or the frequency 
of occurrence cannot be determined, or both and may not be recurring 
requirements. Generally, IQ requirements will be negotiated based on a number 
of direct labour hours by skill category. The various skill categories are defined as 
follows: Professional (P): employment requiring a special degree or professional 
certification; Technical (T): employment requiring a degree or other post-
secondary education; Clerical (C): employment requiring training in office or 
administrative skills; Skilled (S): employment requiring specialized trades training 
or certification; and Unskilled (U): employment that requires no special training. 
IQ Labour Rates for work performed on Public Holidays will be reimbursed as per 
Employment Standards Act. 

b. Variable Indefinite Quantity (VIQ) requirements:  
i. Are those services or tasks which are included in the fixed firm price of the 

Contract as their scope and frequency are defined as predetermined Estimated 
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Quantity (EQ) and represent the estimated quantity to be delivered by the 
Contractor in terms of a particular service or task. They are required to be tracked 
by month, per section and comprise the annual VIQ report by the Contractor to 
the client. At the end of the 12 month reporting period their variance will be 
reported as; a negative variance (below the estimated quantity), a positive 
variance (exceeds the estimated quantity) or by zero variance (estimated quantity 
is as documented in SOW per section and line item). The annual VIQ report will 
determine if DND owes the contractor for overall positive variance or if the 
Contractor owes DND for any negative variances. 

51. Will Canada consider making the site visits mandatory to ensure all companies have the same 
information? 

a. At this time Canada will keep the site visits and bidder’s conference optional. 
52. Regarding the site visits and bidder’s conference how many can attend; what information will be 

required regarding those that will attend; what are the personal security clearance requirements, 
etc.. 

a. Information regarding the date and details will be posted online. DND will facilitate as 
many personnel as possible. 

53. What “electronic bid submission tool” will be required?  Any special software required? Any 
special training required to use the software?  

a. Canada will be using Survey Monkey for the electronic bid submission tool. No special 
software is required. 

54. What information will be provided to the Contractor to manage the contract? Please confirm what 
training and IT assistance will be provided by DND to facilitate the use of these programs by the 
Contractor. 

a. The Contractor will be provided access to the following database programs, controlled 
by DND: 

i. Ammunition Information and Maintenance System (AIMS).  
ii. Defence Resource Management Information System (DRMIS). Self-learn 

modules.  
iii. National Movement and Distribution System (NMDS).  

b. Canada will provide training on these systems, as required. 
55. There is no Contract Security stated in the draft RFP; however, what should a Contractor expect 

here as a requirement, e.g., will there be a requirement to provide a Performance Bond plus a 
Labour and Material Bond?  If so, in what amounts and what would be the required delivery date?  

a. No, Canada has no intent in requesting Contract Security from the Contractor. 
56. There are references to standing orders, information systems, manuals, directives and standards. 

Information on these should be included in the RFP were possible or in a document data centre 
for review.  

a. Canada will provide access to all references in the RFP. 
57. Will Canada consider creating ‘Indefinite Quantity Requirements’ where it states they don’t exist 

but may be required? 
a. Canada is currently doing a review of the Indefinite Quantity requirements to determine 

if an update is required. 
58. Can Canada please clarify what the payment terms will be, i.e., 30 or 45 days? 
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a. The standard payment term is 30 days. 
59. Regarding health safety and environmental reporting requirements is the Contractor responsible 

for reporting and responding to the whole site or just the services required by the Contractor 
within the scope of work?  

a. The Contractor is responsible for reporting on the entire site. This task is a joint effort 
with Canada. 

60. Would Canada consider increasing the task authorization limit? 
a. The limit stated in the draft RFP is the limit that DND is comfortable managing, higher 

amounts can be signed off by PSPC.  A higher amount may be considered should DND 
wish to entertain a higher limit.    

61. The Draft RFP mentions both yearly and monthly billing rates options? 
a. Canada is updating the rates to only include monthly options. 

62. Will an indigenous content plan be included in the RFP? 
a. No, an indigenous content plan will not be included in the RFP. Canada will be evaluating 

social issues in procurement via the Gender Based Analysis Plus.  
63. Industry recommends that the date by which key personnel, individual employees and 

subcontractors be security cleared, in particular to the SECRET level, be carefully considered by 
PSPC, with a security clearance date as close to the service delivery date as possible.  

a. Canada is requesting that resources be cleared at Contract award. 
64. Industry believes it is overly restrictive to require that the Key Contractor Personnel must 

successfully complete the Gender Based Analysis Plus course by the contract award date and we 
recommend this due date be amended to the service commencement date. 

a. The online Gender Based Analysis Plus course will take approximately 2 hours to 
complete. Canada may consider revising the date of completion. 

65. Does Bill 7 apply to the resources under the incumbent? 
a. Canada will respond to this question at a later date to be determined. 

66. Will the Contractor be required to procure its own LAN / WAN services?  Or will we be able to 
access internet applications and sites via the DND / Government LAN?   

a. No, the Contractor will not be required to procure its own LAN/WAN services, they are 
permitted to use the current system on base. The Contractor will be able to access certain 
internet applications sites via the DND LAN; however there are exclusions. 

b. The Contractor may use its own LAN/WAN services as long as they do not interfere with 
the DND services. 

67. Will Canada allow the Contractor to utilize its own asset management / work order management 
system?  

a. Yes, the Contractor can use their own systems. 
68. Will Canada /DND allow interfaces between the Contractor supplied systems and DND systems?  

a. No, Canada will not allow interfaces between the Contractor supplied systems and DND 
systems. 

69. Is WiFi available on base? 
a. There is a quality of life network provided by public funds available in accommodations 

and there is currently a request to Shared Services to have WiFi cover a larger area.  That 
being said, WiFi should not be relied upon by the successful bidder to carry out its 
activities. 
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70. Is increasing the range of WiFi on the base an innovation capability?  
a. No this would not be considered an innovation capability as DND is already in the process 

of increasing the coverage. 
71. Can cell data be used?  Can cloud data be used?  

a. Yes, both can be used as long as no government of Canada information is on the cloud. 
72. The RFI responses seem to indicate that Canada will let Industry use its own QA systems vs ISO 

9001.  Please confirm.  
a. No, Canada is requesting that Industry have the required ISO certifications. The 

Statement of Work (SOW) will be updated to clarify this requirement. 
73. Will Canada clarify its intent in Basis of Payment S6 – VIQ, in terms of which areas of the SOW will 

be subject to VIQ adjustments? What tools will be used to determine the baseline for contract 
level of effort and cost?  

a. The tool that will be utilized has yet to be sourced but will be made available with the 
RFP. 

b. Yes, Canada will clarify in the SOW and the Basis of Payment which areas will be covered 
by VIQ.  

74. Will Canada allow the Contractor to install non-DND applications and systems to the DWAN?   
a. This is dependent on the non-DND application. Specifics on the application will need to 

be provided to DND. 
75. Are there collective agreements currently in place that a new Contractor will be required to 

assume?   If so, will details on the agreement be provided during the bidding process?  
a. The DND collective agreements will have no impact on the Contractor’s obligations on 

base. There may be collective agreements in place for the resources working for the 
incumbent; however, Canada has no obligation with regards to these agreements.  

76. Are there any subcontractor agreements currently in place that a new Contractor will be required 
to assume?  If so, will details on the agreement be provided during the bidding process? 

a. Canada does not have any subcontractor agreements in place that the new Contractor 
would have to assume. The incumbent may have agreements, but Canada cannot 
comment on them. 

77. Can you provide additional clarification on Canadian Content Value for corporate General and 
Administration overheads that are provided outside of Canada?  How will they be evaluated 
against CCV?  

a. Canadian Content value is calculated based on work conducted on Canadian soil, the 
minimum is 80%. Therefore, any General and Administration activities carried out on 
foreign soil will not count towards reaching the 80% threshold. 

78. Are there any current targets for environmental strategy? 
a. No, the SOW does not currently identify any requirements for environmental 

stewardship. 
79. What kind of interactions can the Contractor expect with Canada? 

a. There is an expectation that the Contractor Site Manager (CSM) attends weekly meetings 
with Canada. There will be periodic meetings for each chapter. 

80. Canada did not indicate there would be any relief on insurance requirements. Industry will need 
to include cost for insurance where the cost will inevitably be passed on to the customer.  It is not 
clear that this approach will be best value for Canada. Is Canada open to further dialogue on this?  
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a. Canada is open to obtaining feedback from industry on how to address the insurance 
requirements. 

81. Can Canada provide the annual budget that DND has allocated for Contract years 2020 through 
2025 for performing the firm fixed price portions of the SOW? 

a. Canada cannot release this information; Canada is relying on competitive bids for the 
firm fixed price portion of the Contract. 

82. Will the Contractor be allowed to utilize radios (Motorola type) and /or telephones in the 
performance of work? Do any restrictions currently apply? 

a. Yes, there is a motorola based network on the base. They are prohibited in certain areas, 
but these locations are clearly identified. 

83. What is the extent of the current service orders backlog? 
a. There is currently no backlog.  

84. Will Canada provide a current copy of the Base Emergency Response Plan? 
a. No, Canada will not be providing the Emergency Response Plan. It is the Contractor’s 

responsibility to bid an emergency response plan. 
85. Is the Emergency Response Plan just for the Contractor to follow or for the entire base?  
a. The plan provided by the contractor will be utilized in conjunction with DND’s 

emergency plans and they will be adhered to by all camp personnel. 
86. Is any work performed at Off-Site locations? If so, what is the location and frequency? 
a. Support for the telecom services ie: phones occurs in Owen Sound, Ontario once or 

twice a year. 
87.  What is the frequency and type of Pest Control required on the Camp and Ranges? Is Overtime 

required for the delivery of this service? 
a. As part of the Contractors Pest Management plan regular routine pest management is 

required. Overtime is not normally required. The types of pest can include cluster flies, 
rodents and unexpected wildlife. An ongoing and effective pest control system is required.  

b. Contracted services are typically confined to the Garrison proper.  However, there may be 
a requirement to venture into the range area as needed; and, pest control activities in the 
RTA are included as part of the fixed price.  It may be worth noting that it is relatively 
uncommon for pest control to be carried out in the RTA.   

88.  What Work Order Management system is DND currently using at 4CDTC Meaford? 
a.  4 CDTC presently uses DRMIS for Work Order Management. 

89.  What is Canada’s plan to allow the Contractor to control access to equipment maintained under 
contract to achieve the required performance? 

a. Although the equipment must be maintained by the Contractor, DND may still use it to 
conduct its operations. 

90. Can the Contractor put monitoring controls for monitoring access? Camera or thermal cameras. 
a. It would depend on where the cameras are and the access would have to be approved. 

91. Are there any ongoing insurance liabilities industry should be aware of? 
a. At this time there are no insurance liabilities. 

92. Are there service agreements between DND and the local community that could hamper our 
ability to subcontract work? Would any such agreements survive the departure of the incumbent? 

a. The newer vehicles must be maintained by the Dealership during the warranty period. 
93. Does Canada have any plans for further investment and/or development on the base that could 
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impact service delivery in the near or mid-contract term? 
a. Not at this time. 

94. What is the opportunity of further work by the Contractor throughout the Contract?  Can a level 
of activity be stipulated for this activity? 

a. There may be additional work orders that the Contractor may have an opportunity to do.  
Canada cannot predict the frequency of additional Task Authorization work. 

95. Operationally, can Canada define what positions are deemed Full Time, Part time and further 
indicate the percentage of unionized staff that currently makes up the workforce? 

a. Canada will be providing the answer to this question at a later date. 
96. Service provisioning scope may enable the hiring of additional resources to supplement existing 

capabilities. Would Canada be open to such an arrangement if the additional revenue was 
shared or offset in some way with the client? 

a. No, Canada is not entertaining third party work at 4 CDTC Meaford . 
97. Are there any ongoing claims or disputes with aboriginal communities in the vicinity? 

a. No, there are no ongoing claims.  
98. Are there any challenges in using foreign workers for this requirement? 

a. Industry must follow all Federal and Provincial employment legislation and obtain the 
appropriate security clearances.   

99. Can Canada provide an advance copy of the current Chain of Command (by titles) that exists at 
4 CDTC Meaford including the Contract Management Team (CMT) and their geographic 
location(s) that the Proponent will be required to interface with during the performance of the 
Contract? 

a. A simplified organizational chart with positions will be provided to Industry. 
100. Who is the Project Authority for the requirement? 

a. The project Authority is the Deputy Commanding Officer (DCO) acting on behalf of the 
Commanding Officer (CO). 

101. Are the key positions expected to be located on site? 
a. Yes, Canada expects the key positions to be located on site. 

102. The SOW indicates several watch keeping requirements in several chapters, can a definition of 
watch keeping be provided? 

a. A requirement of the contractor to operate specific “workstations” for a certain number 
of hours per day or week with a stated minimum number of personnel meeting expressed 
minimum qualifications are identified” TO “A requirement of the contractor to operate 
and conduct specific tasks for a certain number of hours per day or week with a stated 
minimum number of personnel meeting the minimum qualifications as identified. 

103. Is there a facility dedicated to the Contractor for use?  
a. Yes, there will be offices available for the staff and storage needs.  

104. Is there a fuel dispensary?  What are the maintenance responsibilities and the access?  Are there 
any operation and control requirements? 

a. Yes there is a fuel dispensary which is managed using a card lock that dispenses the fuel. 
The Contractor must maintain the Fuel records. DND will order the fuel as needed.  

105. Is the water supply on base shared between the base and the community?  
a. The water supply on the base is strictly for the base and managed by the Contractor. 

106. Section 6.6 GBA+ Requirements – why is the Contractor Site Manager not included in the 
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required training list? 
a. This was an oversight.  The final RFP will include the Contractor Site Manager as needing 

to meet the GBA+ requirement. 

2.0 FINANCIAL EVALUATION  

1. In large scale, complex procurements of this nature it is our experience that the introduction of a 
competitive dialogue / collaborative meeting process whereby proponents and the client meet 
jointly at key points during the procurement offers significant advantages. Is Canada willing to 
explore the introduction of such a mechanism into this procurement?   

a. Canada has undertaken an extensive industry engagement where potential bidders have 
had the opportunity to collaborate with representatives of both DND and PSPC in writing 
as well as during face to face meetings.  As a result of this extensive engagement, Canada 
will not be exploring additional dialogue during the solicitation stage, except for a bidders’ 
conference site visit scheduled during the RFP stage.    

2. Does the proposed evaluation approach have a means to determine whether the lowest price is 
capable of delivery i.e. relates to the Technical offer, and if so how is this dealt with? In the 
absence of such a criteria we would suggest that the mechanism include a specific assessment 
asking “Is the proposed level of service deliverable at the submitted price?” 

a. The technical authorities do not have access to the financial bids; that is evaluated by 
PSPC. 

b. The Proposals are evaluated as 70% technical and 30% financial. Overall the technical 
score will outweigh the financial score 

3.0 TECHNICAL EVALUATION 

1. Annex J Technical Evaluation (1 a: Corporate Experience). Is the value a combined value of 5 
Million or individual? 

a. This is a combined value of all projects up to $5 Million. 
2. It is unclear if the combination of the Projects for the 5 Chapters must add up to $10m per annum 

or the Projects which they are form part of.  Perhaps this could be clarified. Can the Project be a 
project outside Canada? 

a. It is a combined value up to $10 million per year. The projects can be outside of Canada. 
3. Does the evaluation of SOW capability explicitly favour Contractors with DND experience (beyond 

the Key personnel evaluation question 2.4)? 
a. No, other than the points allocated in 2.4 Canada will not be evaluating resources or firms 

based on DND experience. 
4. Is prior/current experience with DND a specific requirement? 

a. Canada is conducting a competitive process and will be selecting a Contractor 
based on the evaluation criteria and method of selection. Although this 
requirement is for a military base, Canada will not be looking for anything that 
is outside of the specified evaluation criteria.  

5. Qualifications for personnel is open to interpretation. Would it be possible for Canada to pre-
qualify personnel? 

a. Canada will not be allowing pre-qualification of personnel. 
b. The current evaluation is being done through phased bid compliance. If during the first 
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phase of evaluation it is determined that the proposed individuals do not meet the 
mandatory requirements Canada will request that additional information be provided so 
that the resource can meet the mandatory. The additional information provided would 
not affect the point allocation during the point rated analysis. 

6. How many resources need to be submitted with the proposal? 
c. Canada will be evaluating the 5 key resources and 1 resource proposed for each of the 14 

chapters being evaluated. In total, 19 resources are being evaluated. 
7. Can Canada clarify the basis for designating certain chapters as Mandatory while assigning the 

same point ratings? 
a. The chapters that were determined mandatory are the ones required to keep the base 

functional. 
8. It’s noted that 2.1a-d and 2.e are requesting the same information but have different point and 

page allocations. 
a. 2.1 a-d cover the mandatory chapters and 3 additional chapters of Industry’s choosing 

and is the bulk of the corporate experience point distribution.  Item 2.1 e covers the 
remaining chapters. 

b. Canada is currently conducting a review of page limits and point distribution. 
9. Can Canada provide greater clarification of which chapters should not be considered within this 

lesser rated grouping. 
a. No, Canada will not be providing clarification on which chapters should not be considered 

in the lesser rated grouping. It is up to Individual bidders to determine which of their 
projects will give them the maximal points. 

10. Would Canada consider structuring 2.3 to provide 15 subsections – one for each chapter to 
include at the three rated requirements addressing Technical Plan, Delivery of Services and 
Staffing Plan – to achieve a weighted rating by Chapter? 

a. No, Canada is not considering updating the evaluation criteria to include 15 different 
subsections. 

11. Currently, the Point Rated Criteria allocates pages and points to each of 15 Chapters although 
Chapter 1 is a sectional Overview without specific requirements. Can Canada clarify the page and 
point allocations for Chapter 1? 

a. At Industry’s request Canada will be removing the point allocation to Chapter 1 overview. 
12. The technical evaluation is unfair as it principally assesses the bidder’s experience on the basis of 

size, scope, value. This has already been addressed in the mandatory minimum technical criteria. 
None of the other evaluation criterion are associated with the four pillars of the Sustainment 
Business Case Analysis. The size, scope, value criteria should not be in both the mandatory and 
the evaluated portion.  

a. 4 CDTC’s decision to evaluate the bidders experience based on size, scope and value 
reflects the Department and the Canadian Armed Forces (CAF) commitment to ensuring 
they receive the service they require in order to enable the training center to achieve 
their mandate. Having these particular criteria in both the mandatory technical criteria 
and the technical evaluation ensures that the bidder will be able to achieve what is 
required. 

13. The contract is silent on the evaluation of relational contracting experience; does Canada have 
any intent on changing this? 



 22 

a. No, Canada does not have any intent on evaluating relational contracting experience. 

4.0 GOVERNMENT FURNISHED EQUIPMENT 

1. Will Canada provide a complete GFE list, warranties, a building condition assessment list etc.? 
a. Canada will provide as much information as possible including an updated GFE list and 

the most recent building conditions assessment. 
2. Who provides the parts for repairs? 

a. Canada will provide the parts for repairs.  The Contractor is only responsible for the 
labour. 

3. The available 4 CDTC GFE List identifies Item Description, Quantity, Average Price and Extended 
Value. In order to effectively assess the Capital Expenditure requirements for the bid period, 
will Canada also provide the following additional information for all GFE particularly for 
vehicles, rolling stock, computers, radios, and tools : 

• Make, Model and Year of Acquisition 
• Any Attached Special Equipment 
• Mileage 
• Functional Area Assigned 
• Assigned Operator skill requirements if applicable 
• Current Condition 
• Any Other Relevant Remarks. 
 
a. Canada will make available as much information regarding the requested information. 

It is important that Industry understands that the GFE list will change up to Contract 
award.  

4. Does the list of GFE include any currently leased items?  
a. There are a few items on the list that are leased, including the printers and photocopiers. 

5. What is the mechanism to resolve differences between GFE listed in the RFP and actuals 
determined as part of the Asset Verification and Condition Assessment process during Transition 
In? If the list varies does the Contract value get adjusted? 

a. The list may change before Contract award. 
b. There is a possibility of negotiation between Canada and the Contractor during the 

transition-in period. 
6. Is the Building condition assessment report going to be made available? 

a. Yes, Canada will make the current condition assessment report prior to the final RFP. A 
new condition assessment report will be available to the Contractor during the transition-
in phase. 

7. Although we acknowledge that the scope of the Contractor Furnished Equipment (CFE) is 
unknown until Canada has defined the Government Furnished Equipment (GFE).  The statements 
at the end of each technical section for example: “Provide all materials, equipment and furniture 
not otherwise provided as Government Furnished” is   a catch-all, ambiguous phrase.  We 
recommend it be removed from each section, and cause DND to define the scope. Is it admissible 
to contract for 20 years of scope by providing a scope description and then tacking on an 
undefined, ambiguous scope statement to include everything not defined in the scoping 
statement? That practice translates into RISK, which favours the incumbent’s ability to mitigate 
it, it raises questions by bidders and raises the price which creates unfair competition. 
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a. 4 CDTC will be providing a comprehensive list of GFE which the contractor will not be 
responsible to lifecycle and will not be responsible for the required items to ensure the 
serviceability of the equipment. The contractor will be responsible for material that is 
outside the GFE list that they deem necessary to deliver the services set out in the SOW. 

5.0 HISTORICAL VALUES 

1. Are historical values available for the entirety of the SOW? 
a. Canada will be providing historical values for the past 2 years. 

2. Is it possible for Canada to post Corrective Maintenance and Preventative Maintenance historical 
values? 

a. Canada will be posting two years of historical values. Canada does not have a Preventative 
maintenance system.  Canada is reliant on the Contractor to create one.  Yes, Canada will 
rely on the contractor to develop and implement Preventative maintenance as described 
in the SOW. 

3. Can Canada provide the current maintenance plans/tasks? 
a. DND will provide the current plans that were developed by the department upon request. 

4. Fluctuations can provide challenges. Is there historical data that can help Industry to determine 
fluctuations? 

a. Canada will provide historical reports. 
b. Under normal operating conditions, scheduled activities are provided to the contractor at 

least 30 days in advance.  The DND Operations Planning cycles commences one year in 
advance with Contractor participation. 

5. Can industry request to see the IQ values for the last few years? 
a. No, that is proprietary information 

6. Is there an annual value for GFM replacement? 
a. No, at this moment there is no annual value. 

7. What is currently in place to track service requests? 
a. The system currently used to track service requests is proprietary to the incumbent. 

6.0 COSTING 

1. To avoid different approaches/significant volume of clarification questions, it would be 
helpful to identify in each section if the requirement is for a cost within the fixed price 
or variable rate (e.g. self-service photocopying volumes) 

a. Whenever there is a quantity listed in the SOW it is a firm fixed price. Canada 
will review the SOW to clear up any discrepancies.  

2. To avoid confusion It would be helpful to identify, where reactive volumes are 
provided, if the requirement  for bidders is to; 

a. Price the specified service volumes only within the fixed price element or 
b. Specified service volumes to be priced on a schedule rates basis. 

i. The intent is for Industry to price the specified services volumes. Canada will also 
make available historical data. 

3. What is the expected transition in and out costs? 
a. This will be a fixed price portion of the work, Industry will need to bid a price. To aid 

Industry in providing a price Canada will be posting the current SOW showing the tasks 
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required for transition out. 

7.0 BASIS OF PAYMENT 

1. What costs are covered under the Cost + method of payment for food services? As labour is the 
most significant component of the food services cost will it be included? 

b. The cost + is only on consumables. The labour rates are part of the fixed price portion of 
the Contract. Canada will review the model and see if there are any changes that are 
required to clarify the requirement.  

c. Canada will give the contractor a budget for food, where only a slight deviation on meals 
is expected. 

8.0 SECURITY  

1. Can sub-contractors be escorted on the base? 
a. A sub-contractor can be escorted but it’s recommended that such personal have SECRET 

clearance so that an escort is not required. 
2. Do the utility workers need to be security cleared? 

a. Subcontractors can be escorted; dependent on the sensitivity of the area they are 
required to perform work. 

3. Is there anything Canada wants to highlight regarding power supply and distribution?  
a. To ensure that any individuals working on the power supply are cleared to Level 2. 

4. The Security Requirements Check List (SRCL) is not available online. Can Canada outline the 
security requirements? 

a. A Facility Security clearance is required. Contractor personnel must be cleared to a 
minimum of reliability.  Some resources will require secret as indicated in the draft RFP.  
Contractor personnel must be cleared at Contract award. 

5. Please confirm exactly when security clearances must be in place for the following personnel as 
“at Contract award” is not clear: 
a. Key personnel. 
b. Other employees and sub-contractors. 

a. Security clearances must be in place at Contract award for all resources. Sub-Contractors 
must have their clearances or be escorted. 

6. Does the Contractor have to be registered in the Controlled Goods Program, which is referenced 
in the RFP?  If so, what categories of controlled goods will the contract be required to handle? 

a. Yes, the Contractor must be registered in the Controlled Goods Program. 
b. The Controlled Goods contained in the Contract include: 

   Group 1 - Dual-Use List 
• Category 1: Special materials and related equipment 
• Category 2: Materials processing 
• Category 3: Electronics 
• Category 4: Computers 
• Category 5 - Part 1: Telecommunications 
• Category 5 - Part 2: “Information security” 
• Category 6: Sensors and “lasers” 
• Category 7: Navigation and avionics 

http://www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/about-a_propos/expor/guide-2015.aspx?lang=eng#group1
http://www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/about-a_propos/expor/guide-2015.aspx?lang=eng#category1
http://www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/about-a_propos/expor/guide-2015.aspx?lang=eng#category2
http://www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/about-a_propos/expor/guide-2015.aspx?lang=eng#category3
http://www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/about-a_propos/expor/guide-2015.aspx?lang=eng#category4
http://www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/about-a_propos/expor/guide-2015.aspx?lang=eng#category5_1
http://www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/about-a_propos/expor/guide-2015.aspx?lang=eng#category5_2
http://www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/about-a_propos/expor/guide-2015.aspx?lang=eng#category6
http://www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/about-a_propos/expor/guide-2015.aspx?lang=eng#category7
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   Group 2 - Munitions List 
• 2-1. Smooth-bore weapons with a calibre of less than 20 mm, other arms and 

automatic weapons with a calibre of 12.7 mm (calibre 0.50 inches) or less and 
accessories, and specially designed components therefor 

• 2-2. Smooth-bore weapons with a calibre of 20 mm or more, other weapons or 
armament with a calibre greater than 12.7 mm (calibre 0.50 inches), projectors 
and accessories, and specially designed components therefor 

• 2-3. Ammunition and fuze setting devices, and specially designed components 
therefor 

• 2-4. Bombs, torpedoes, rockets, missiles, other explosive devices and charges 
and related equipment and accessories, and specially designed components 
therefor 

• 2-5. Fire control, and related alerting and warning equipment, and related 
systems, test and alignment and countermeasure equipment, specially designed 
for military use, and specially designed components and accessories therefor 

• 2-6. Ground vehicles and components 
• 2-7. Chemical or biological toxic agents, “riot control agents”, radioactive 

materials, related equipment, components and materials 
• 2-13. Armoured or protective equipment, constructions and components 
• 2-14. ‘Specialised equipment for military training’ or for simulating military 

scenarios, simulators specially designed for training in the use of any firearm or 
weapon specified by 2-1. or 2-2., and specially designed components and 
accessories therefor 

• 2-15. Imaging or countermeasure equipment, specially designed for military use, 
and specially designed components and accessories therefor 

• 2-16. Forgings, castings and other unfinished products, specially designed for 
items specified by 2-1. to 2-4., 2-6., 2-9., 2-10., 2-12. or 2-19. 

• 2-17. Miscellaneous equipment, materials and “libraries”, and specially 
designed components therefor 

• 2-18. ‘Production’ equipment and components 
• 2-21. “Software” 
• 2-22. “Technology” 

Group 5 - Miscellaneous Goods and Technology 
• Foreign Origin Goods and Technology  
o 5400. United states origin goods and technology 
o 5401. Goods and technology in transit 
• Other Military and Strategic Goods and Technology  
o 5501. Blinding laser weapons 
o 5504. Strategic goods and technology 
o 5505. Goods and technology for certain uses (Catch-All) 

Information on all groups can be found at: http://www.international.gc.ca/controls-
controles/about-a_propos/expor/guide-2015_toc-tdm.aspx?lang=eng 

7. Can Canada respond to the issue of Security Clearances for one-off hires or subcontractors in 
reference to operational time delays? There was an indication there would have to be military 
escorts for Enhanced Reliability areas. What about Secure/Special areas?   

http://www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/about-a_propos/expor/guide-2015.aspx?lang=eng#group2
http://www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/about-a_propos/expor/guide-2015.aspx?lang=eng#2-1
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a. The contractor is responsible for escorting non cleared resources.  In rare instances, DND 
may escort non secured resources.   

 

9.0 SOW CLARIFICATIONS 

1. What kind of fire services are required? 
a. The Contractor will be responsible for containment until fire services from Meaford arrive 

at the scene and assume command. The services include structural, wildline and ARFF.  
2. Is there a challenge in providing emergency power? What parts of the base are critical and 

essential? 
a. There are 9 Auxiliary Power Units (APUs) on base. The base may lose power 2-3 times a 

year. Making certain there is power to the HQ and the Kitchen is priority 1. Food services 
does have a backup generator. There are APU’s in areas that have been determined 
critical to base operations such as the hospital and the fire hall. More information will be 
provided with the Real Property list. 

3. What is the responsibility of the Contractor regarding unexploded ordinances (UXO)? 
a. The Contractor has no responsibilities for UXO other than to document and inform DND. 

The Contractor should not be near any UXO. 
4. Who does the Quality Assurance? 

a. The Contractor is required to do their own Quality Assurance. DND will have resources to 
complete Canada’s Quality Assurance.  

5. Who is responsible for removing the hazardous waste?  
a. The Contractor is responsible from start to finish including cleaning, storage, and 

shipment. 
6. What is the most hazardous thing on base?  

a. The fuels.  
7. Are there any risks or concerns related to environmental management that DND is working 

through internally? Anything under DND’s control?  
a. There is a risk of Unexploded Ordinances, but the Contractor wouldn’t be responsible for 

removal/remediation actions, nor is the contractor expected to be anywhere within their 
proximity.  

b. DND has an environmental program but there is nothing within it that should concern the 
contractor. The contractor may be allowed to support tasks related to the environment 
program through an indefinite quantities requirement. 

8. General engineering questions: 
a. Is Canada looking for Professional Engineering for stamping drawings? 

i. For any modifications that would change the drawings an engineering 
stamp/approval would be required. 

b. Is there historical data that could provide details on what changes required the stamp? 
i. This information will be contained in the Real Property list that will be made 

available. 
9. Who performs the Vehicle Maintenance? 

a. Some of the maintenance is done in house, but the ones under warranty have to go to 
the dealership.  
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10. The draft RFP refers to a job limit of $7,500; however, it is not clear if it is a comprehensive value 
that Industry has to take risk on or not. Please clarify.  

a. Definition: Job Limit relates to Corrective Maintenance (CM) work orders as listed in 
performance requirements in section 3, paragraph 2 C. The Job limit is $7,500(excluding 
taxes) calculated as the number of labour hours times the hourly wage rate and employer 
paid benefits plus the cost of materials. If a job will exceed the job limit value, it will be 
negotiated in accordance with the Indefinite Quantity Requirements; however, the 
Contractor will only invoice for the difference between the Indefinite Quantity negotiated 
amount and $7,500. For the purposes of reporting for Variations in Quantity, each job 
that exceeds the job limit and is negotiated as an Indefinite Quantity Requirement will 
count against the Estimated Quantity of the related Performance Requirement in para 2 
C as one job.  

b. Explanation: This criteria appears in many sections across the new SOW. It basically 
applies to all CM (repair) activities across the SOW. There are more opportunities for IQ 
Job Limit (CM) work that number of Job Limits specified per section (i.e. max of 11 IQ Jobs 
/ year @ $7,500.00 per Job Limit) This permits max flexibility by contractor and DND to 
decide where they conduct their CM (repair) work each year verses a set number. It also 
permits work above the 11 IQ Job Limit to be conducted via DND 626 – TA, as Indefinite 
Quantity work to be eligible for application of the $7,500.00 Job Limit. The contractor will 
never be required to provide beyond the 11 IQ Jobs / year.   

c. List of IQ Job Limit activities by section. 
i. Chapter 3 – Facilities Operation and Maintenance – Perform CM on jobs 

exceeding the job limit. Contractor is responsible for the first $7,500 of each job. 
Each job can be counted as one job against the Estimated Quantity of 3.2.c.1. See 
contract terms and conditions for details regarding negotiation of IQ job.  9 CM 
activities totalling 2,700 IQ hr per year.  

ii. Chapter 10 – Roads and Grounds – section  3.d.1.b  – Corrective Maintenance (IQ 
work - paved surfaces - 2 jobs / mth); 

iii. Chapter 10 – Roads and Grounds – section 3.d.2.b – Corrective Maintenance (IQ 
work – gravelled surfaces – 4 jobs / mth); 

iv. Chapter 10 – Roads and Grounds – section 3.d.3.a – Corrective Maintenance (IQ 
work – maintenance requirements – 3 jobs / year); 

v. Chapter 11 – Power Supply & Distribution - section 2.b.1. b – Corrective 
Maintenance (IQ work – APU’s and Ancillary Equipment – 6 work orders / year); 

vi. Chapter 11 – Power Supply & Distribution - section 2.b.2. b – Corrective 
Maintenance (IQ work – Power Distribution Systems – 4 work orders / year); 

vii. Chapter 11 – Power Supply & Distribution - section 2.b.3. b – Corrective 
Maintenance (IQ work – Street Lighting System -6 work orders / year); 

viii. Chapter 12 – Water Supply and Distribution – section 2.c.1.b – Corrective 
Maintenance (IQ Work – Potable Water Production and Distribution System – 10 
jobs / year); 

ix. Chapter 12 – Water Supply and Distribution – section 2.c.2.b – Corrective 
Maintenance (IQ Work – Fire Booster Pumps, Ancillary Equipment and Associated 
Accessories – 1 work order / year); 
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x. Chapter 13 – Waste Management – section 2.a.3.b – Corrective Maintenance (IQ 
Work – Sewage Treatment Plant – 64 jobs / year); 

xi. Chapter 13 – Waste Management – section 2.c.2.c.V  – Corrective Maintenance 
(IQ Work – Collection of Hazardous Waste – Spill Response – 10 spills / year) 

Chapter 3. Facilities Operation & Maintenance questions 

1. Are the Work Orders e.g. “1000 plumbing system work orders per year” simply an estimation of 
the volume of activity or the amount that Bidders should assume in their Fixed Price Fee? 

a. This is an estimation of the volume of activity and is the amount that Bidders should 
assume in their Fixed Price Bid. 

2. To aid the process and ensure greater price certainty for Canada it would help with the Scope of 
Work if a comprehensive asset register was made available.  Is Canada considering this? 

a. Canada will make available the most current comprehensive asset register list as well as 
the building conditions report. 

3. The Job Limit references labour and materials. We assume that third party subcontractor costs 
would also be included within the sum.  If so it would be helpful to clarify this. 

a. Yes, third party subcontractor costs are also included within this sum. 
4. If the answer above is yes it would be anticipated that Canada provide a comprehensive analysis 

of the reactive requests responded to over the previous [2] years to allow Bidders to construct a 
price that has an acceptable risk profile whilst delivering Value for Money to Canada. 

a. Canada will provide a list of all reactive requests responded two in the previous 2 years. 
5. Are there any restrictions on the supply and sourcing arrangements for Contractor Furnished 

materials / equipment? 
a. No. How the Contractor conducts the work is the Contractor’s prerogative. 

6. Will a list of buildings falling into categories A, B, M2 and M3 be provided? 
a. As requested by Industry, Canada will make the information available. 

7. Is it possible to receive a list of actual service calls, job volumes and job types over the past year?  
Further clarification on types of jobs with various volumes would be helpful. 

a. Canada will post the historical information from the past 2 years. 
8. Can you use drones for the asset verification process? 

a. No, drones cannot be used on the base.  Special permissions would need to be obtained 
prior to any drone usage on the base. 

9. 1.b.3 (Pg 67) Engineering Inspection: What are the qualification requirements for the 
Engineering Inspector? 

a. There are various qualifications for the wide variety of RP operations. The minimum 
requirements for mandatory resources can be found in Annex G. RP requirements can be 
found on pg 221. 

10. 2.c.1 – (Pg 71) What are the number of work orders? What is the level of effort? 
a. Estimates will be provided in Annex A 

11. 2.d.1  - (Pg 71) In Minor Construction there is no estimated quantity provided, can Canada 
provide an estimate? 

a. Estimates will be provided in Annex A. 
12. 2.e.1/2/3 (Pg 71/72). Engineered Drawings. What is the level of effort? 

a. Estimates will provided in Annex A 
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Chapter 5. Front desk and Accommodations. 

1. To ensure the appropriate resource profiling occurs is it possible for Canada to provide a 
monthly analysis of the variable activities (for example, check in / out) in order that 
proponents can accurately assess the peaks and troughs in service capacity and the 
corresponding staffing levels required? 

a. As requested by Industry Canada will provide a monthly analysis of the variable 
activities to all bidders. 

2. What challenges can be expected in accommodations?  
a. The accommodations consist of both permanent and semi-permanent buildings 

with a large turnover rate. The buildings have been to capacity in the past. 
3. Is there an existing accommodations system in place?  

a. No, there is currently no accommodations system in place. 
4. How does the daily operations log work? Is it automated?  

a. No the daily operations log is not automated, the daily operations log is all done 
by pen then transcribed into a spreadsheet. It is staffed 24/7. 

5. Is there an existing Accommodations and ration card system that will be required to be 
used by the Contractor?  

a. Yes, there is a system that is owned by DND. Meal card system is Volanté and the 
room fobs system is Axiomv Security System. 

Chapter 6. Information Systems. 

1. Can Canada confirm it will provide the IS systems hosting data, such as building drawing, 
assets registers etc. at its cost, or are bidders required to provide such a system within 
their proposal 

a. Canada confirms that it will provide this information. Canada hopes that the 
Contractor will be able to use IERIS. If DND can’t provide access to IERIS, DND will 
work with the contractor for interfacing the data. The contractor will use DND 
systems that will be provided. If the contractor utilizes proprietary software and 
there is a requirement to interface with existing DND networks and infrastructure, 
the requests will be on a case-by-case basis. 

2. Are there any restrictions around anything cloud based?  
a. There can be no Government of Canada information stored on the cloud. 

3. Will Canada provide the computer software?  
a. Canada allows the current contractor to access some of DND’s software. The 

contractor also has their own software. Software requests would have to be 
approved by DND. 

4. What is the role of the Technical Information Systems (TIS) manager? 
a. A lot of the Technical Information Systems (TIS) manager’s job is ensuring that operational 

impacts are minimal. 
b. All IT tickets are level 1 support, anything above level 1 is shared services Canada.  

5. Is the contractor responsible for IT life management?  
a. The hardware is provided by SSC; it will be shipped to the Contractor and the Contractor 

does the installation. 
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6. Who is responsible for the replacement of infrastructure?  
a. DND will do most of the replacement.  There is the possibility for the Contractor to provide 

these types of services through a Task Authorization. 
7. Given the significant swing in operational tempo from one season to the next is the base 

IT infrastructure sufficient and resilient enough to assume peak requirements? 
a. Yes, there are no issues with the IT infrastructure 

8. 2.c. (Pg 91) What is the level of effort? 
a. Estimates will be provided in Annex A 

9. 5.b (Pg 101) The Contractor must provide all equipment to meet contractor requirements. This 
leaves the contractor at risk for upgrades/replacement wide open and more detail is required 

a. The contractor will be responsible to provide the non-GFE equipment and materiel in 
order to perform the work set out in the SOW. 

b. A current list of GFE will be made available to Industry. 

Chapter 7: Food Services 

1. There is a challenge in finding qualified resources in the food services industry. Does Canada have 
any suggestions?  

a. The onus is on the Contractor to ensure that qualifications of the resources are met. 
b. A menu will be provided to the Contractor. 

2. Who delivers the dispersed meals? Is the Contractor responsible for dispersed meals and the 
delivery of the meals? 

a. The Contractor is responsible for preparing dispersed meals. Delivering meals from the 
proximity of the kitchen to the field is the army’s responsibility. 

b. The Contractor is not responsible for delivery of the hay boxes.  
3. Are boxed lunches required? 

a. Yes, boxed lunches are required 
4. There are relatively few food services providers with the experience and capacity to 

deliver a contract of this nature. Are sub-contractors allowed to be tied up by a single 
company? 

a. Canada doesn’t have any influence to the private industry. However, there is 
nothing stopping a single contractor from being proposed by multiple bidders. 

5. Is the meal plan provided in food services? 
a. Yes, the meal plan will be provided. Canada will be implementing the National 

Standardized Cycle Menu. 
6. For food services, what are the costs included in cost plus? 

a. The cost is the cost of food only. Labour will need to be covered under the fixed 
rates. DND will provide their own auditors to verify cost.  In turn, the Contractor 
is responsible for its own audits. 

7. What resources are available for food services? 
a. The menu is prescribed from the National Standardized Cycle Menu. The recipes 

and meal plan are provided for a 5 week period. The Contractor will have one 
regional choice. Substitutions may be allowed if an item in the menu is not 
available; approval from the TA would be required.  The National Standardized 
Cycle Menu will be provided to industry. 
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8. Are there any catering opportunities for the Contractor? Are there any opportunities for 
the Contractor to do additional work in food services? 

a. The Contractor cannot use the base’s facilities to cater outside functions. 
Catering in the form of mess dinners and holiday dinners on base may be 
available to the Contractor, but the decision rests with the client. 

9. Does Canada expect variation in activity during the term of the contract, and can there 
be a re-negotiation clause if there is a significant variation in volumes? 

a. There’s a relatively known flow of personnel throughout the year. The 
Contractor will be given as much notice as possible from Canada regarding the 
number of individuals on base. Most training is booked 30 days in advance. There 
will be a requirement of flexibility for some minor fluctuations. 

10. What’s the ratio for mess dinner vs dispersed meals etc?  
a. DND will provide this information to the Contractor  during weekly meetings.  

11. 1.e.9 (Pg 103) DND guests: Personnel or groups with whom DND has entered into agreement to 
provide facilities, food and services. These includes, but are not limited to OPP, Bruce Nuclear, 
and RCMP. Will there be special meal timing requirement for external users? 

a. Training events that are scheduled by other agencies or departments are done as far in 
advance as possible. DND will provide the contractor with as much notice as possible, 
keeping in mind training schedules are fluid and sometimes change.  

Chapter 8. Vehicle and equipment maintenance.  

1. 2.a.1/2 (Pg 117/118) What is the level of effort per inspection/work order required 
a. Estimates will provided in Annex A 

2. 5.h (Pg 122) "The Contractor must submit the Spare Parts Usage Report to the PA. The Contractor 
must include current stock levels of all GSI repair parts, a list of commercial parts acquired during 
the month from the DND fund, and a spreadsheet listing the monthly expenditures and overall 
balance of the DND fund" What is the value of the “DND fund”, does it pay direct or does 
the contractor carry the cost up to a limit? Clarification required 

a. The contractor will incur the costs and will reconcile with the CMT and the appropriate 
DND authorities at an interval to be defined in the final RFP. 

Chapter 10. Roads and grounds maintenance. 

1. Snow and Ice Management: Given the varying service requirements experienced on an annual 
basis could Canada please confirm the manner in which snow and ice management services are 
to be managed and to what extent this service will be fixed price and to what extent it will be 
variable? 

a. The Snow and Ice Management is fixed price with variation in quantities. The fixed prices 
are only for gravel and salt. If the snow season is longer than anticipated there can be 
discussions on how to proceed. 

2. 3.a.2/3 (Pg 131) The quantity of roads graveled and paved conflict in these bullets. Confirmation 
required. 

a. Quantities will be verified and adjusted if required. 

Chapter 13. Waste Management. 
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1. It is unclear as to how the Job Limit applies to Waste Management Services. Could Canada please 
clarify? 

a. The Job Limit refers to the cost incurred outside of the core business activities. Some 
examples of this would be soil remediation or Hazardous waste cleanup. 

2. Are all disposal costs on a pass through basis or to be included in the fixed price? 
a. They are in the fixed price. 

Chapter 14. Fire Services 

1. Sec. 3.a (3) requires the Contractor to provide Aircraft Rescue Fire Fighting (ARFF) Response 
services.  This is the only mention of air related services in the draft RFP.  Can you please provide 
more information on the air services at 4th CDTC and if the Contractor will be required to meet 
designated ARFF service levels? 

a. Although this is listed as one incident per year, we need to comply with regulations in that 
we have a landing area for rotary wing aircraft that could potentially land at the training 
centre for whatever purpose from training to emergency situations. 

2. How many fire trucks are provided? Will more be available? 
a. There are currently 2 fire trucks.  One additional fire truck may be added for structural 

ARFF. 
3. Please clarify the reference to ARFF services. 

a. Link to the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Codes and Standards; 
https://www.nfpa.org/Codes-and-Standards/All-Codes-and-Standards/List-of-Codes-
and-Standards 

b. Personnel qualifications are the minimum; NFPA 1003 Standard for Airport Fire Fighter 
Professional Qualifications - This standard identifies the minimum job performance 
requirements (JPRs) for airport fire fighters 

4. What is the historic workload associated with Contractor support to DND emergency operations 
and training?  

a. Operations are different because it is the routine business, regular meetings, project 
reviews, inspections etc. all inspections are as required by regulation and law 

b. Training. 
• The Contractor must provide training in basic firefighting procedures and HazMat 

spill response by qualified personnel to personnel as directed by the PA, to both 
DND personnel and Contractor staff. 

• 25 training sessions per year. 
• The Contractor must maintain currency on all qualifications and carry out drills as 

required. 
• 50 practice fire drills per year. 
• The Contractor must prepare and coordinate a joint fire response training exercise 

with the Meaford and District Fire Department.  
• One joint exercise per year. 

5. Is the support requirement differentiated to distinguish workload between fire, police, and EMS?  
a. The Contractor only provides Fire Services 

6. Can Canada identify what percentage of historic fire operations support occurred after hours?  
a. Minimal amounts for fire services. 
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7. Can industry receive a better understanding of the fire response from the town of Meaford?  
a. The Contractor’s main objective is to contain the fire, not to fight it. Currently the 

responsibility for fire rests with the town of Meaford. The response time is about 40 mins.  

Chapter 15 Transition In/Out 

1. Regarding the Transition-in costs, they are unfair as the incumbent would have little to no costs. 
a. Canada is researching how to best evaluate the Transition in.  The RFP will be updated if 

required. 
2. How does the new Contractor work with the Incumbent during the Transition In? 

a. The current SOW will be posted online for Industry to view the requirements of the 
current Transition-out, also a 6 month period. 

3. What is the time for the transition in and out? How long does the Contractor have for asset 
verification? 
• The transition in and out are both 6 months in length. The asset verification is to be completed 

3 months after takeover; meaning 9 months after Contract award. DND will have a third party 
complete a building condition index prior to Contract award for the Contractor to review.  

• If not all assets can be verified in the 9 months, it may be extended upon discussion with TA; 
however it is expected to be completed in the 9 months’ time frame.  
a.  

4. There is a requirement for the Incoming Contractor to conduct a baseline condition 
assessment of all assets prior to handover (which the incoming Contractor presumably 
will be held accountable for.) Can Canada please clarify the basis and condition upon 
which the outgoing contractor is obligated to deliver up the assets? 

a. It is Canada’s expectation that all assets are returned to Canada in the state that 
the incumbent received them.  

b. In terms of the cost for transitions-in: The cost will be evaluated within the 
bidders’ financial proposal and the SOW of the current Contract will be provided 
for Industry to view the requirements of the transition out period. 

5. Is there any provision within the existing contract which incentivizes the incumbent 
Contractor to facilitate a smooth Transition Out and handover to the incoming 
Contractor? 

a. Their payment is based on completing the work in the SOW.  The incumbent 
must attend meetings and provide status updates as stated in the SOW which 
will ensure a smooth transition and passage of information between all three 
parties 

6. 5.a.3.i (Pg 166) inspect and accept Government Furnished Facilities (GFF) available for Contractor 
use and as selected for use by the Contractor during the bidding process; Do we have access to 
the GFF Listing? 

a. A list of the facilities will be made available. 
 

10.0 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 

Posted as AMD 007 on January 31, 2019 
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1. What are the guidelines for managing the performance of the work?  
a. The draft RFP does state in a few areas the estimated quantities that are expected. 

2. When will the contractor know about how the performance management will be measured? 
a. The PMF was posted in January. 

3. Why was there a reduction in the Performance Incentive Fee (PIF)? 
a. Given that this requirement has a potential of being a 15-20 year Contract, Canada is 

proposing a more flexible PIF. Canada is reviewing the amount of the PIF. 
4. 2.1.2 and 4.1.1 seem to be contradictory. We suggest being more specific so as to not have 

room for subjectivity. 
a. Canada will add verbiage to 4.1.1 to clarify that Contractor concurrence to any 

adjustments of the KPIs is required. 
5. 2. Table 2 Performance Evaluation Assessment. Met and Satisfactory tend to mean the same 

thing. It is suggested that different terminology be used. 
a. Met and Satisfactory are defined in the document as:  

Met: The Contractor met the performance standard and has not shown any superior or 
outstanding traits, therefore there will not be any assessment.  

Satisfactory: The Contractor has consistently met the performance standard and in 
some cases slightly exceeded. 

Canada is not changing the terminology at this time. 

6. KPI 2 Flexibility and Last Minute Service Requests (FLMSR) 
• Respond to significant last minute requirements. 
• Positive reflection on the Base and DND overall. 
• These are very subjective. Who will oversee these to ensure the proper judgement call is 

made? 
a. There are 3 levels of review prior to the issuance of a score 

i. The Contractor is responsible for the collection, analysis and presentation of the 
necessary information required for Canada’s assessment of the performance 
measures as required. 

ii. The Performance Evaluation Team (PET) will create a PET report for submission 
to the Performance Incentive Fee Board (PIFB) using the information gathered 
from the Contractor as well as information from Subject Matter Experts. The PIFB 
may go back to the Contractor or the PET for more information. 

iii. The PIFB will review all documentation and make a decision on the score. 
7. KPI 3 Fiscal Accountability & Dependability (FAD) is difficult to demonstrate without 

quantitative measure of effectiveness 
• Achieved best value for Canada. 
• Demonstrated fiscal responsibility.  
• Please define “best value for Canada”. Can concrete examples be given? 

a. Best value for Canada is defined as the best combinations of quality, service and time 
considerations, at the lowest total cost over the life of the requirement 

8. Can Canada add a definition to the term “demonstrate” as it remains open for interpretation? 
a. Where work, tasks or proposals clearly display the intent of the work or task is understood 

or where proposals provide a detailed explanation showing a clear understanding of 
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intent of the work or task. 
9. Can Canada add a definition for “significant value to Canada” as it remains open for 

interpretation? 
a. Significant value to Canada means, but is not limited to, any cost or time saving measure 

implemented to save Canada money or to achieve the work set out in the contract in a 
more efficient manner. Also, Significant value to Canada means taking the welfare and 
wellbeing of personnel on the site that are being supported by the contractor in the 
highest regard. 

10. Can Canada add more PM criterion and a quantitative measurement to complement the 
Performance Evaluation Assessment?  
a. Canada will consider changing the KPIs. 
b. The KPIs can be adjusted throughout the Contract with agreement between the PIFB and 

the Contractor. 
11. How frequently are the KPIs assessed monthly, quarterly, or semi-annually (PIF)? 

a. The KPIs will be assessed every 6 months. 
12. Can Canada adjust the terminology “demonstrable” at 1.2.1? “Demonstrable” sets a bar that 

is unachievable. 
a. Canada will consider revising the terminology; however the Contractor will be assessed 

according to the KPIs in section 5.0. 
13. 2.3 – The definitions for the levels of performance are too vague and should include examples 

for further clarity. 
a. Canada will not be providing examples. The verbiage is clear enough in the PMF and if 

the work stated in the SOW is carried out in accordance with the contract there should 
be no doubt as to the “levels” of performance. 

14. 3.4.6 – This should be removed due to the fact the clause indicates reallocation of PIF to a later 
period yet has no connection to Contractor performance. 
a. At this time Canada will not be removing this section, the intent of this clause is to allow 

flexibility if the Canadian Armed Forces temporarily change priorities that directly affect 
the core functions of the site which prevents the PETB from accurately assessing the 
contractor’s performance. The PETB would then (with contractor approval) withhold the 
assessment and the corresponding PIF amount until such time as a proper assessment 
can be done.  

b. The reallocation cannot be done with consent from the Contractor. 
15. PET – The roles and responsibilities of the PET make no mention of communication, feedback 

on a real time basis and joint discussion on improvements or problem solving on base 
deliverables to enable higher levels of training capabilities and successful exercise outcomes. 
Often in Contracts the PET/CMT has to do its own inspections and joint inspections. The PET 
construct in this document is totally devoid of the “TEAM” concept and silent on the role of 
the CMT. 
a. Canada will still be doing inspections of work done on the base as it deems required. 
b. Canada will be in communication with the Contractor throughout the life of the Contract 

through meetings, reviews of reports, etc. This communication is not outlined in this 
document but is a requirement of the Contract. 

16. Given the construct of the PET roles the access to data should be explicitly related to 



 36 

Contractor claims for PIF only. 
a. The Contractor will be submitting a self-assessment to the PET; the PETB will use the 

contractors data as information only when assessing the contractors overall 
performance during that particular period. The CMT / PETB will consult SME’s and 
review all their data they have collected when making their final recommendation. 

17. Contractor reports for input to PIF recommendations should be at least monthly to enable 
concurrence and client change to areas of emphasis that can take place real time. Bi-annually 
will cause PIFs to be argumentative and non-cohesive. 
a. The PMF can be changed at any time with concurrence from Canada and the Contractor, 

it is not limited to every 6 months. The PIF is only available every 6 months.  
b. The contractor is able to submit reports to the CMT monthly if they choose. The PETB will 

consolidate the reports and with their data, make a recommendation. The assessment 
period of six (6) months allows 4 CDTC to monitor work over a longer period of time while 
making recommendations along the way allowing the contractor to address any issues. 

18. Section 5.1 – Over and above SOW elements performance “considered to be of significant 
value to Canada” is too qualitative and open to subjectivity. If the Contractor goes over and 
above it obviously deems this performance aspect is of value to Canada. How would the 
Contractor know what is of significant value to Canada? 

a. As Canada encourages cost savings and innovation, any implementation or proposal 
that has been approved by the Project Authority will be given consideration during the 
evaluation period but will only be considered as value added if the EQ’s are surpassed 
by 10-30%. 

19. The evaluation framework is not clear. Section 4.1.1. states “prior to the evaluation period, 
the PET will develop PMF evaluation criteria and weighting 10 days prior to the review period.” 
The criteria could change for each evaluation period? 

a. The Evaluation Criteria will remain consistent unless there are significant changes to 
the SOW / Contract. 

20. There are no Contract or Project Authority inspections listed in the document – how is there a 
comparison against the Client observations?  
a. The Contracting Authority and the Project Authority may be members of PETB, and will 

be approached for information from the PETB as required.  
21. The process to amend the PIF is not clear and non-existent in the current framework. If the 

Contractor is not able to increase the PIF %, then quantitative criterion needs to be provided 
so that the Contractor is aware of how best to receive the 2% award. 
a. The process to amend the PMF is listed in 3.1, and requires Contractor agreement. If 

Canada and the Contractor feel that more quantitative criteria are required an 
amendment can be made. 

b. It is not anticipated that the maximum PIF % listed in the Contract will change over the 
course of the Contract. 

22. Section 2.4.1 “Depending on the level of service performance incentive adjustments may 
apply”. Does this infer there is a predetermined starting level? What is meant by “may apply”? 
a. If the Contractor provides services at a satisfactory, superior or outstanding level, as 

defined in 2.3, performance incentives will apply. 
23. Met, satisfactory, superior and outstanding should have examples or be much clearer and 
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expanded upon. Is there a consistent numerical or percentage value for each of the four levels 
of performance as the ranges? 
a. Canada will review the definitions and provide examples if required. 

24. Table 4 is very misleading by using an example of $500K when other documents to date state 
a 2% PIF which would equate to such a large PIF value. 
a. The amount of PIF is calculated using the current value of the contract, so it will vary. This 

table was for “information” only. 
25. KPI3 – There is little to no room for the Contractor to be financially efficient – 626s and Food 

are two areas, but otherwise the focus will be on firm fixed prices, which remains constant for 
the duration of the contract. The Contractor may be able to recommend expenditures that 
would result in long term financial efficiencies, but have no control of the expenditures. The 
Contractor has little opportunity to impact Fiscal Accountability and Dependability and score 
well on this KPI. 
a. Being financially prudent and producing cost savings to DND is always encouraged; 

however Canada will still default to the technical aspects of Alternate Service Delivery 
(ASD), followed by the financial aspects in the 70:30 ratio.  

26. KPI4 – This KPI is difficult to measure for the Contractor as there is no means for the Contractor 
to directly affect the success of an operation or exercise. There could be outstanding support 
services and the operation or exercise may actually not be successful. The Contractor should 
be evaluated on its support to operations and exercises only.  
a. Success of exercises is characterized as the client having all resources and materials 

requested to support the conduct of the exercises. The tactical outcome of an exercise 
will not adversely affect the contractor, unless the tactical outcome is not achieved due 
to a shortcoming by the contractor. (i.e. no food or haybox delivery to field units) 

27. KPI5 –With two technical authorities who does the Contractor maintain communication with 
during the life of the contract. “Key Members” – are we to engage multiple 
members/organizations on the Base? Definition or example of “Strategic Approach” would 
help clear up the communications plan. 

a. The contractor will interact and liaise with the Contract Management Team (CMT) and 
not the individual Technical Authorities. 

28. Can Canada clarify the reasoning behind the weightings assigned to the KPIs? 
a. Weight will be assigned based upon importance of training support to DND; i.e. no fail 

tasks will be higher than those that may be less critical 
29. Will “all stakeholders” be stringently held to the timelines laid out in the PMF? 

a. Yes 
30. The biggest unknown is the Client chain of command with a proposed two technical authority 

structure.  
a. Having two (2) TA’s is the way forward for DND with regard to this type of contract as 

various aspects of the contract require different expertise and approvals within the 
department. The Project Authority will still be involved in the decision making process 
for both TA’s. 

31. Table 9.1 Sample Schedule is unacceptable at 97 days to claim PIF. The date should be changed 
to no more than 30 days. 

a. The PIF award activities conclude no more than 45 days after conclusion of PIF period. 
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Annex B-List of Participating Companies 

• AECOM 
• ASC Group Inc 
• ATCO 
• BOUYGUES 
• CALIAN 
• CBO 
• CFN Consultants 
• DEXTERRA 
• SERCO 
• SHIPLEY 
• SNC LAVALIN 
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